MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2007-KA-02260-COA

JIM TERRY

APPELLANT

VERSUS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

1. Jim Terry, Appellant;

i

- 2. Jim Waide, Esq., Attorney for Appellant;
- 3. Waide & Associates, P.A., Attorneys for Appellant;
- 4. State of Mississippi, Appellee; and
- 5. Charles Maris, Esq., Attorney for Appellee.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether an indictment alleging "embezzlement" or "fraud" occurring over a two-year period is sufficient when it does not give specific dates of embezzlement or fraud, or state what facts constitute the embezzlement or fraud.

ŧ

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

ł.

The important issue of the extent to which a criminal defendant is entitled to notice of the charge warrants oral argument.

1

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Lowndes County indictment charges:

That... on or about or between January 1, 2004 through the 31st day of December 2005, ... did unlawfully, wilfully, and feloniously commit a fraud or embezzlement while holding a public office, to-wit: Supervisor of District 4 of Lowndes County Mississippi, by fraudulently obtaining gasoline and the use of a county owned vehicle for his personal activities, having a total aggregate value of over \$500.00, by charging said gasoline on his county Fuelman card and using his county vehicle for personal purposes; contrary to the form of the statutes in such cases made and provided, and against the peace and dignity of the State of Mississippi.

R. 3.

Terry filed a motion to dismiss, alleging that the indictment failed to give notice of the nature of the charge, as guaranteed by the Mississippi and United States Constitutions.¹ A hearing was held on the motion on October 12, 2007, T. 7-23, and it was denied the same day. T. 25; R. 10.

Trial began on November 27, 2007 and concluded with a verdict of guilty on November 29, 2007. R. 55. Terry filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, and again argued that the indictment did not give notice of the charge against him. R. 68. The Court, as it had before done at the close of the State's proof, T. 270, and again at the close of the case, once again denied the motion to dismiss. T. 586-

¹ The motion to dismiss is noted in the docket, R. 1, but through clerical error, is not contained in the record. Terry has filed a motion to supplement the record to include the motion to dismiss. A copy of this motion is attached to the record excerpts.

On November 30, 2007, the Court imposed the following sentence:

Thirteen (13) months in the Mississippi Department of Corrections and Five (5) years Post Release Supervision and to pay restitution to Lowndes County, Mississippi in the amount of \$2227.29 and to pay \$4000.00 to the Mississippi Department of Audit; and the Defendant is hereby removed from the office of Supervisor of District 4 of Lowndes County, Mississippi. The Defendant is hereby directed to return any and all county property in his possession to the Lowndes County Inventory Control Officer immediately.

R. 63.

Terry filed his notice of appeal on December 17, 2007. R. 71.

FACTS

The proof at trial was that Lowndes County, Mississippi utilizes two different methods of allowing travel expenses for its supervisors. Under one method, the supervisors charge the County mileage based upon their own records of travel. T. 130-31.

The other method is to utilize a county-issued "Fuel Man" gas card to put gas into a vehicle owned by the County. Under this method, each supervisor is assigned a personal identification number, which allows the supervisor to purchase fuel for the County vehicle to be later paid for by the County. T. 127-28.

At trial, the State introduced "redemption" records, which document specific

2

87.

dates when Terry was present at a casino. To make redemptions, one has to show personal identification. T. 172-73, 184, 190, Exhibits 7A, 7B, 8A, and 8B. State's Exhibits 7A, 7B, 8A, and 8B demonstrate that Terry was certainly present at a casino on 26 different specific dates in 2004, and on 23 specific dates in 2005. T. 191, Exhibits 7A, 7B, 8A, and 8B.

Additionally, through the casino representative, the State proved that it was highly likely that Terry was at the casino on numerous other occasions. A person or persons using Terry's "player's card," gambled at the casino a total of 47 different dates in 2004, and on 37 different dates in 2005. T. 190-91, Exhibit 6. Thus, utilizing all the evidence from casino records, Terry made trips to the casino on a minimum of 26 specific dates and a maximum of 47 specific dates in 2004, and on a minimum of 23 specific dates and a maximum of 37 specific dates in 2005. T. 191-95.

The State tied these dates of trips to the casino with dates when Terry had utilized his "Fuel Man" card to buy gas for the county-owned vehicle. The State introduced Exhibits 4 and 5, which are records of Lowndes County's payment of the Fuel Man charges. Exhibits 4 and 5 disclose the specific dates and places where Terry utilized his personal identification number to buy gas for the county vehicle. T. 158, Exhibits 4 and 5.

3

÷

Through state auditor/investigator Tracy Hill-Watts, the prosecutor then introduced into evidence a "spreadsheet," to demonstrate that the dates when Terry utilized his "Fuel Man" card to purchase gas for the county vehicle corresponded, approximately, with dates when Terry made trips to the casino. T. 196-266, Exhibit $9.^{2}$

By comparing the dates of the Fuel Man fill-ups with the dates when Terry either made redemptions at a casino, or Terry's players card was used at the casino, the auditor-investigator concluded that during the 2004-05 time period, Lowndes County had expended \$2,227.00 on fuel for Terry's personal use. T. 208.

Conflicting with Exhibit "9," the indictment does not disclose any specific information about the dates of gas purchases, nor dates of trips to a casino.

It became apparent during cross-examination of the state auditor-investigator (Hill-Watts) that the prosecutor knew about the specific dates and specific actions for which Terry was being charged only immediately before, or during, the trial. The copy of the spreadsheet, which was furnished to defense counsel during the trial, was not the same as the spreadsheet (Exhibit "9") introduced during trial. On cross-

²The entire thrust of the State's proof at trial may be found in Exhibit "9," which is the spreadsheet containing on the left side, the dates and places where Terry utilized the Fuel Man card to buy gas for the county vehicle, and on the right side, the dates when the state auditor found that Terry's players card was used at the casino, or Terry made redemptions at the casino. Because this document is the heart of the State's entire case, it is included in the record excerpts.

examination, Hill-Watts compared the exhibit furnished defense counsel (Exhibit "11"), with the spreadsheet which she actually introduced (Exhibit "9"). T. 238-44. Hill-Watts admitted that the exhibit furnished defense counsel at trial (Exhibit "11") is substantially different from the spreadsheet (Exhibit "9"), which was introduced into evidence. Hill-Watts specified that one difference was that the records furnished to defense counsel at trial, unlike Exhibit "9," did not contain any entries between October 2005 and December 2005. T. 238-39. Also, based upon "redemption records," the auditor had added entries not contained in the exhibit furnished to defense counsel at trial. T. 240. For example, the state auditor added to the information furnished defense counsel entries that had been made on February 13, 2004, and February 17, 2004. T. 241. Additionally, Hill-Watts testified that she had removed certain entries in the copy of the exhibit furnished to defense counsel, because further study had convinced her that these casino trips did not correspond with the Fuel Man gas purchases. T. 242.

Hill-Watts' testimony, and her spreadsheet, Exhibit "9," make it clear that the State's case was based mostly upon the proposition that Terry must have driven the county vehicle to the casino because he purchased gas at or around the same day that he was at a casino. Of course, it would have been possible for Terry to fill-up the county vehicle on or around the same date that he went to a casino in a different

1

ł

vehicle. In fact, the auditor agreed that the only time when it can be proved that Terry's county vehicle was at the casino, is when Terry actually purchased gas for the county vehicle in either Robinsonville or Philadelphia, and these dates of gas purchases correspond with records of Terry's gambling activities. T. 246-47. Terry purchased gas in either Philadelphia or Robinsonville only seven times over the two year period, T. 247, and there was no gambling activity on some of those seven occasions. Exhibit "9".

Auditor Hill-Watts admitted that if one counted as illegal purchases only those times when gas was purchased in casino towns, the amount involved would be less than \$500.00.³ T. 252. Furthermore, the amount would be even less, if one included only those occasions when there were records of gambling activity on the same dates as gas was purchased in a town where a casino was located. T. 256.

Tracy Hill-Watts testified that it was her opinion that anytime Mr. Terry purchased gas outside of Lowndes County, there was an illegal use of the vehicle. T. 256. However, if one counted only the gas purchases outside of Lowndes County, it is clear that there would still be less than \$500.00 in controversy. T. 256, Exhibit "9."

³Embezzlement is a felony if more than \$500.00 is involved. Miss. Code Ann. § 97-23-19.

The cross-examination also made it clear that the State's case depends entirely upon the theory that a gas purchase, either on the same day as there was a trip to the casino, or near that date, amounts to use of the county vehicle for personal purposes. Most of Exhibit "9" consists of entries made when Terry actually purchased gas in Columbus, but made a trip to the casino either on the day of the gas purchase, the day before, or the day after. T. 261-63, Exhibit "9."

Testifying on his own behalf, Terry swore that it was his invariable practice that he would not take the county vehicle to a casino, when his sole purpose was taking a gambling trip. According to Terry, when he was going to a casino location solely for gambling purposes, he utilized his wife's personal vehicle. He agreed that there were some occasions when he had taken the county vehicle to a city where gambling occurs, but always on those occasions, he had some other county purpose in mind, not gambling. T. 288-94; 295. Terry's wife corroborated his testimony by testifying that they "didn't go (to casinos) directly in the county vehicle. . . If something else was going on that we had to do in the county vehicle and we were in an area where a casino was, we have gone by there then. But we've never just gone directly to the casino in a car." T. 447.

Without having advance notice of the specific dates of alleged illegal personal use, it was impossible for Terry to testify as to his specific activities on a particular

7

date with which Exhibit "9" charged Terry. Terry could give only general testimony that it was his practice not to take the county vehicle to a gambling site unless he was going on some other county business near that site. T. 288-94, 295. Terry's testimony that he was not making any excessive personal use of the vehicle was corroborated by his expert witness, retired Internal Revenue Service agent, Timmy Millis, who testified that based upon his examination of the records, Terry did not utilize the county vehicle to a greater extent in weeks when he made trips to the casino, than he did on weeks when he did not make trips to the casino. T. 402-03. Also, Millis testified there was no indication of any criminal intent by Terry, since Terry had made records of his trips to the casino, and had not attempted to hide in any way the fact that he was a frequent gambler, or to conceal that he was going to a casino. Millis testified: "He used his Fuelman card on his county vehicle and used his player card when he was at the gambling casinos." T. 403-04.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The State's proof at trial was that on numerous specific dates, Terry had used the county vehicle for personal purposes, mostly gambling trips. However, the indictment gives no notice whatsoever of these specific dates, nor does the indictment reveal a particular private use, such as gambling. It was impossible to prepare the case for trial without knowing the specific dates of alleged illegal activity, and

ł.

ź

Ł

without knowing precisely what specific personal activity the State was alleging. Terry's rights under the Mississippi and United States Constitutions to be given notice of the charges were violated.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Whether the indictment afforded sufficient notice of the charge is a question of law. Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*. *Gray ex rel. Rudd v. Beverly Enters.-Miss., Inc.,* 390 F.3d 400, 405 (5th Cir. 2004); *Hart v. Bayer Corp.,* 199 F.3d 239, 243 (5th Cir. 2000).

ARGUMENT

THE INDICTMENT WAS INSUFFICIENT TO ALERT TERRY TO THE NATURE OF THE CHARGE. THUS, THE CONVICTION VIOLATED TERRY'S RIGHTS UNDER THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AND UNDER MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTION, ART. 3, § 26.

At every stage of this prosecution, the Defendant unsuccessfully argued that the indictment was insufficient to give him notice of the charge against him. See Motion to Dismiss, R. 10, and argument thereon, T.9-23, Motion for Directed Verdict at Close of State's Case, T. 270, Request for Preemptory Instruction following State's resting, T. 530-31, Motion for JNOV, R. 70, and argument thereon, T. 579-87.

The United States Supreme Court has held that "[n]o principle of procedural

due process is more clearly established than that *notice of the specific charge*, and a chance to be heard in a trial of the issues raised by that charge . . . are among the constitutional rights of every accused in a criminal proceeding in all courts, state or federal." *Cole v. Arkansas*, 333 U.S. 196, 201 (1948) (emphasis added).

Moses v. State, 795 So.2d 569, 571 (Miss. App. 2001), held that an indictment must inform the defendant of the "nature of the charges brought against him so that he may have a reasonable opportunity to prepare an effective defense." *Moses v. State*, 795, So.2d 569, 571 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001). In *Moses*, the defendant was first charged under an original indictment with fifteen counts of rape, two counts of sexual battery, and five counts of fondling. The only notice of the specifics of the charges was that the crimes had occurred between June 1994 and September 2007. The Court of Appeals held an indictment is constitutionally deficient when it does not contain the specific dates of the alleged crime, so the defense can have meaningful notice of the charge. *Moses*, 795 So.2d at 571. In holding that the indictment was required to contain the dates of the alleged crimes, the Court of Appeals wrote:

An indictment serves a valuable purpose in the criminal process. Its purpose is to inform the defendant with some measure of certainty as to the nature of the charges brought against him so that he may have a reasonable opportunity to prepare an effective defense and to enable him to effectively assert his constitutional right against double jeopardy in the event of a future prosecution for the same offense. U.S. v. Gordon, 780 F.2d 1165, 1169 (5th Cir.1986). In furtherance of that underlying

purpose, Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Rule 7.06(5) requires, as an essential element of an indictment, a statement of "[t]he date and, if applicable, the time at which the offense was alleged to have been committed." URCCC 7.06(5). We have little doubt in determining that this indictment, in the form returned by the grand jury, did not adequately fulfill its purpose. Multiple accusations of crimes that are, word for word, identical to each other simply cannot by any logical argument provide the necessary information that a defendant is entitled to receive by way of the indictment.

Moses, 795 So.2d at 571.

This case is very much like *Moses*. In this case, the indictment failed to specify that on a particular time or specific date, the Defendant used the county vehicle for a specific personal purpose, such as going to the casino. Instead, the indictment charged, in general terms, that the Defendant had been guilty of either fraud or embezzlement, by utilizing the vehicle for personal purposes, and that this occurred on some unspecified dates, either on January 1, 2004, or on December 31, 2005, or sometime during that two year period. There was no way for defense counsel to prepare for this trial, because there was no way for the defendant to know the date that it was being claimed that he had used the car for personal purposes, or even that, on a specific date, he was charged with using the county vehicle for a casino trip.

Complete information on the nature of the charge was not furnished until trial, and even that information was not accurate. According to the State's witness, Hill-Watts, the crucial spreadsheet which defendant saw for the first time at trial, Exhibit "9," is different from the copy of that same exhibit furnished to defense counsel during trial. Exhibit "9," the State's key evidence at trial, contains a number of entries which were not even listed in the copy of the exhibit furnished to defense counsel at trial. T. 238-39. No entries from October 25, 2005 through December 31, 2005, were in defense counsel's copy furnished at trial, because the prosecutor added them after the auditor examined the records further. T. 240. For example, entries of February 13, 2004 and February 27, 2004, were made after defendant was furnished his copy at trial, because the auditor later discovered certain "redemptions." T. 241. Furthermore, the prosecutor even removed some entries which had been listed on the copy furnished to defense counsel, because the auditor concluded there was no evidence of purchase of gas at or around those dates. T. 242.

If the prosecution itself does not know, at trial, two years after the indictment was returned, and two years after the events at issue, the basis of the prosecution, how can the defendant possibly have adequate notice of the charge?

Given the fact that the indictment does not specify any particular times or activities which are being charged, it is impossible to know precisely for what acts the jury intended to convict Terry. It will readily be seen from the crucial State's Exhibit "9," included in the Record Excerpts, that the overwhelming majority of entries are occasions when Terry purchased gas in Lowndes County, but made a trip to the casino, either on the same day as he purchased gas in Lowndes County, or made a trip to the casino the day after purchasing gas in Lowndes County. Except by the sheerest of speculation, there is no way to know whether Terry actually took the county vehicle to the casinos on or about the same day as he filled it up, or whether he went to the casino in his wife's vehicle on or around the same dates as he purchased gas for the county vehicle.⁴ Indeed, given the frequency of Terry's trips to the casinos, there are bound to be many dates when Terry fills up the county vehicle on or near the same date as he goes to casinos.

It may be that the jury accepted the testimony given by Hill-Watts at one point, that anytime the vehicle was filled up outside of Lowndes County, Mississippi, illegal use of county funds had been made. T. 256. If the jury accepted that theory, there would be less than \$500.00 in controversy, since adding up only those occasions when there was a fill-up outside of Lowndes County, Mississippi, would result in total gas purchases of less than \$500.00.⁵

Since the indictment does not specify whether or not conducting official

1.

⁴Both Terry and his wife testified that they frequently took her vehicle to the casinos, and that they only took a county vehicle when there was some county business in the area. T. 295; 447.

⁵Exhibit 9 indicates the overwhelming majority of fill-ups with the Fuel Man card were made inside Lowndes County. The next largest number is Starkville, a county which joins Lowndes County, and two are in Tupelo, which is not in the line of travel going to a casino.

business on the same occasions when Defendant also gambles is a criminal activity, one can also not know whether or not the jury accepted Terry's testimony that on many occasions, he gambled and also conducted county business. Given the vagueness of the indictment, one cannot know whether the jury would consider it a criminal offense to gamble on a day when defendant went by a casino when he was in the general area on county business. For example, it is impossible to know whether or not this jury considered Terry guilty of the entry on October 13, 2004, when he filled up in Lauderdale, Mississippi, went to the Silver Star for a workshop conference, and also made a redemption at a casino. Exhibit "9."

Similarly, since the indictment does not specify the particular dates and activities involved, it is impossible to know whether the jury would consider Terry guilty on occasions when he went to a town where a casino was located, but not actually gambling on that day. For example, on June 11, 2005, Terry purchased gas in Robinsonville, but Exhibit "9" contains no record that he either gambled or redeemed on that day.

Furthermore, a few of the entries contained in Exhibit "9" are records of activity for which no rational inference could be drawn of any personal use. For example, on June 9, 2005, Terry filled up in Columbus, Mississippi, but there is no indication that Terry even went to a casino on that date. It is the sheerest of speculation to base a guilty verdict on the fact that on June 10, 2005, Mr. Terry took a trip to the Horseshoe Casino in Robinsonville, since one has no way of knowing whether he went in the county vehicle on June 10, 2005, or whether he went to the casino in his wife's personal vehicle. For example, from examining Exhibit "9," one sees no evidence that Mr. Terry either gambled or redeemed in Robinsonville or Philadelphia on June 9, June 11, or June 25, 2005, even though all these dates are alleged in Exhibit "9" as dates on which Terry improperly utilized the county vehicle. Had the indictment charged Terry with personal use through gambling on specific dates, a directed verdict could have been requires as to certain of the dates, but since the State made only a general charge, covering a two-year period, the State was free to allege the specific dates only at trial, and allow the jury to sort out which particular dates may fit the charge.

In *Quang Thanh Tran v. State*, 962 So.2d 1237 (Miss. 2007), a defendant was indicted for money laundering, but the indictment did not specify "the alleged illegal activity which produced the money."

The chief issue in *Tran* was whether an indictment for money laundering was "required to disclose the underlying activity which the State alleges produced the money." *Tran*, 962 So.2d at 1239. The indictment in *Tran* charged only "money laundering, and did not charge that the underlying illegal activity was drug

trafficking, and that the proceeds involved were from drug activity." The Mississippi Supreme Court held that where illegal activity is alleged, the underlying indictment must specify precisely what illegal activity is involved. The Mississippi Supreme Court stated:

The government may not prosecute a criminal defendant "for a capital, or otherwise infamous crime, unless on a presentment or indictment of a grand jury...." U.S. Const. amend. V. The purpose of an indictment is to satisfy the constitutional requirement that a "defendant be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation ..." U.S. Const. amend. VI; Miss. Const. art. 3, § 26. *See also* U.R.C.C.C. 7.06 (indictment must include a "plain, concise and definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged and *shall fully notify the defendant of the nature and cause of the accusation.*") (emphasis added). The purpose of these requirements is to ensure that criminal defendants have a fair and adequate opportunity to prepare for and defend against the charges brought against them by the government.

Tran, 962 So.2d at 1241.

ī

÷

ι

٤.

In the course of holding that the indictment was required to specify the unlawful activity, the Court analogized the case to cases involving burglary. "Because the offense of burglary requires the State to prove a defendant broke into a dwelling with the intent to commit 'some crime,' the indictment must specify the crime the accused intended to commit." *Hodges v. State*, 912 So.2d 730, 774 (Miss. 2005).

The Mississippi Supreme Court then held:

Tran argues that his indictment employing the term "unlawful activity" is unconstitutionally vague, and he is entitled to be informed of the "unlawful activity" which allegedly produced the funds he is accused of laundering. We agree. We find *Tran*'s indictment to be no more informative than a hypothetical indictment which charges a defendant with entering a conspiracy to commit "some unlawful activity."

Tran, 962 So.2d at 1243.

The Mississippi Supreme Court then concluded:

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