IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JIM TERRY

APPELLANT

FILED

VS.

SEP 1 2 2008

NO. 2007-KA-2260

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

THAT THE INDICTMENT WAS SUFFICIENT TO NOTICE THE APPELLANT OF THE CHARGE AGAINST HIM

ARGUMENT

THAT THE INDICTMENT WAS SUFFICIENT TO NOTICE THE APPELLANT OF THE CHARGE AGAINST HIM

The Appellant alleges that the indictment returned against him, one in which one charge of embezzlement under Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-11-31 (Rev. 2006) was alleged, was insufficient to notice him of the specific dates that he committed embezzlement. The indictment alleged that the Appellant committed embezzlement "on or about or between January 1, 2004 through 31 December 2005. (R. Vol. 1, pg. 3).

The Appellant alleges that he filed a motion to dismiss the indictment but claims that his motion to dismiss is not a part of the record here on account of clerical error. He says that he intends to supplement the record with the motion. (Brief for the Appellant at 1, fn 1). However, at this time there does not appear to be any supplementation of the record with any such motion. Nonetheless, there was a hearing on a motion to dismiss. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 7 - 22).

In the hearing on the motion, the Appellant's ground for dismissal of the indictment was that the indictment was defective because it alleged, in the disjunctive, that the Appellant committed fraud or embezzlement. The claim was that such pleading was defective because it would not be possible to determine whether the jury acquitted or convicted the Appellant of fraud or embezzlement. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 9 - 12). It appears that the State conceded that the indictment should have alleged fraud and embezzlement in the conjunctive. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 17 - 18). The argument then focused on whether the indictment could be amended on motion by the State. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 19 - 22). However, the specific argument raised here was not raised in the hearing on the motion to dismiss, and the trial court did not rule, prior to the point at which the jury was empaneled, on that argument.

The issues argued on the motion to dismiss have not been renewed here. They are thus abandoned on this appeal. *Sherron v. State*, 959 So.2d 30 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). Since they have not been renewed here, it is unnecessary to address them here. What the Appellant does allege here is that the indictment did not sufficiently allege the particular dates on which he committed his acts of embezzlement. This argument, though, was not raised in the argument on the motion to dismiss. It is true that the Appellant alleged this in support of his motions for a directed verdict and for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, but those motions did not seek dismissal of the indictment for an alleged lack of sufficient notice. When the Appellant did make the claim that the indictment should have alleged specific dates, he made it too late.

The trial court considered the Appellant's motion to dismiss as a demurrer to the indictment. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 7). The trial court's assessment of the nature of the Appellant's motion was correct since the motion alleged at least one defect appearing on the face of the indictment. Miss. Code Ann. 99-7-21 (Rev. 2007). Under Section 99-7-21, a claim such as the one made here, as well as the one actually made in the trial court prior to trial, must be made in a non-capital case before the jury is empaneled. *Frei v. State*, 934 So.2d 318 (Miss. Ct. App.

2006)(Claim of insufficiency of dates alleged in an indictment must be raised by way of demurrer) In the case at bar, the argument advanced here was not made prior to that time; it may not be considered here. Baker v. State, 930 So.2d 399, 404 - 405 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005); Gray v. State, 728 So.2d 36, 69 - 70 (Miss. 1998).

The Appellant, it seems, would have this Court believe that he only learned of the particular dates involved within the time span alleged in the indictment at trial. While he does not explicitly say that his failure to raise this issue prior to trial should be excused on account of when he claims he learned of the specific dates, much of his brief is written in such a way that it appears that that is what he is getting at.

First of all, to the extent that the Appellant believed that the indictment was too vague in terms of the dates alleged, it makes no logical sense to allege that this alleged vagueness did not suggest itself to the Appellant prior to trial, but only in the course of trial. Secondly, the Appellant's representation of what he learned and when he learned about specific dates would seem to suggest a discovery violation. Yet no such violation was alleged at trial, and none here. On the other hand, it seems clear, by the admission of the defense, that the State provided all of the raw data concerning fuel purchases and casino trips. (R. Vol. 5, pg. 581). The "big chart" that the Appellant refers to in his brief appears to have been a spreadsheet that was put together from that data. The Appellant, though, surely knew of the dates on which he used the fuelman card to purchase gasoline and the dates the State would prove that he was at a casino. The

¹ Should it be that the record before the Court will be supplemented with the motion filed by the Appellant, and should it appear that the claim made here was contained in it, this will make no difference. The Appellant did not advance any such claim in the hearing on his motion. Since he did not pursue any such allegation to a ruling prior to the empaneling of the jury, he abandoned it. *Evans v. State*, 725 So.2d 613, 708 (Miss. 1997).

Appellant's claim that he did not know until trial what particular dates were involved, that even the State did not know, is at best highly misleading and is simply not true. Were this so, it is inconceivable that the defense would have gone to trial in such a posture.

Assuming for argument that the Appellant's Assignment of Error is before the Court – in other words, that the argument was raised in a timely fashion in the trial court – there is no merit in it.

In Salts v. State, 984 So.2d 1050 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) the indictment for embezzlement there charged acts of embezzlement in ranges of dates. There was no indication in the opinion that to so charge embezzlement was worked a deficiency in the indictment. There is nothing about the case at bar to suggest that time was the essence of the offense, or that the lack of particular allegations of precise dates stuck a critical blow against the defense, and certainly the Appellant does not suggest this, much less demonstrate it. The Appellant could easily have divined from the State's discovery, and no doubt did, particular dates within the range set out in the indictment. In any event, since time was not of essence in the case at bar, it was not necessary to precisely allege the date of commission. Baker, supra. On the other hand, since the State did actually allege a precise range of dates, the Appellant was surely on notice of the date of the alleged offense.

The Appellant relies on *Moses v. State*, 795 So.2d 569 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) in support of his position that the indictment in the case at bar was insufficient to put him on notice of the dates of his acts of embezzlement. *Moses*, though, is distinguishable from the facts of the case at bar.

In *Moses*, the defendant in that case was charged in a single indictment with twenty - two separate acts of rape, sexual battery, and fondling against two victims. It appears that the rape

and sexual battery counts were alleged to have been committed over a thirty - nine month period; the fondling counts did not allege a date or a range of dates of commission. Although the prosecution was in possession of information that would have significantly narrowed the time frames involved, it did not seek to amend the indictment for that purpose. Because the counts of the indictment used identical language and used identical time frames, the Court found that the indictment was insufficient to notice that defendant of the charges against him. This is hardly the situation in the case at bar.

Here, there was but one count of embezzlement in the indictment, and one time frame in which it was alleged to have been committed. The State was not in possession of information that would have shortened the time frame alleged. The State's proof demonstrated the accuracy of the time frame alleged.

The indictment charged one act of embezzlement, the many specific instances being offered in evidence in support of that one charge. The Appellant was not being prosecuted for however many of these specific instances in themselves; those instances were evidence of the one charge. It was, as the trial court put it, a "continuing type of offense." (R. Vol. 5, pg. 586). In *Moses*, that defendant was charged and was tried on each of the counts of the indictment. We are aware of no rule of law, and the Appellant cites no rule of law, in which it is required of the State to charge in the indictment each and every item of evidence upon which it will rely to prove its case against the accused. Rule 7.06 URCCC includes no requirement.

The Appellant also complains that the indictment does not indicate whether the Appellant was conducting official business on the same occasions when he gambled. (Brief for the Appellant, at 13). Perhaps the indictment does not so allege, but then the Appellant presents no authority or argument that the lack of such an allegation amounted to a defect on the face of the

indictment. Nor did he raise this issue prior to the empaneling of the jury. This complaint is not properly before the Court. *Puckett v. State*, 879 So.2d 920 (Miss. 2004). Since he did not raise this in the hearing on the motion, he waived any complaint about the matter.

Throughout the Appellant's brief he sets out various quibbles and questions about what the jury might or might not have believed. These various points were not raised at the hearing on his motion to dismiss, and thus may not be considered here. Beyond this, though, these quibbles appear to us to more in the nature of complaint about the evidence, rather than a complaint against the indictment. Yet no issue has been raised on this appeal concerning the weight or the sufficiency of the evidence of the Appellant's guilt.

The Appellant then cites *Tran v. State*, 962 So.2d 1237 (Miss. 2007). It is true that the Court in that decision held that an indictment for money laundering must set out specifically what "illegal activity" produced the money, but it also held in that case that the failure of the indictment to allege this was harmless under the facts of the case, the defendant having been clearly informed of what the particular illegal activity was. Nonetheless, the Appellant thinks this decision is analogous to the case at bar. It is not.

The indictment in the case at bar clearly alleged that the Appellant committed fraud and embezzlement by "fraudulently obtaining gasoline and the use of a county owned vehicle for his personal activities". (R. Vol. 1, pg. 3). In other words, unlike the defendant in *Tran* who, from the face of the indictment, was left to wonder what "illegal activity" he had committed, the Appellant was not left to wonder what he embezzled. He was informed specifically of what he embezzled. The particular instances relied upon by the State were not, it is true, alleged in the indictment, but these were items of proof. Again, we know of no case in which it has been held that the State must set out in detail the items of proof it will rely upon to prove the charge of the

indictment. Beyond this, the Appellant knew from the "raw data" of the individual items of

evidence that the State would likely offer in proof, as did the defendant in Tran.

The indictment at bar was sufficiently to notice the Appellant of the charge against him.

The State's discovery responses revealed the particular items of evidence that would or might be

put into evidence in support of the charge. It may be that some items of evidence were not used

by the State, but there is nothing to show that some item of evidence not disclosed by the State

was used. There is certainly no claim of a discovery violation.

The Assignment of Error is without merit.

CONCLUSION

The Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.